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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

ALAN MEYER,  
312 Ashby Street, Unit C 
Alexandria, VA 22305 
 
DAVID CORNELIUS, 
25878 Pollard Road, #2114 
Daphne, AL 36256 
 
Individually and on behalf of all others similarly 
situated, 
    Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
PANERA BREAD COMPANY 
6710 Clayton Road 
Richmond Heights 
Saint Louis, MO 63117 
  
 
    Defendant. 

 
 
CLASS AND COLLECTIVE 
ACTION COMPLAINT 
 
 
Jury Trial Demanded 
 

 Plaintiffs Alan Meyer and David Cornelius (“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of 

all others similarly situated, by their attorneys at Outten & Golden LLP, allege, upon personal 

knowledge as to themselves and upon information and belief as to other matters, as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This lawsuit seeks to recover overtime compensation for Plaintiffs and their 

similarly situated co-workers who are or were employed by Panera Bread Company (“Panera” or 

“Defendant”) as Assistant Managers (“AMs”) in the United States. 

2. Plaintiffs, former AMs employed by Defendant, bring this action on behalf of 

themselves and other current and former AMs, who were unlawfully classified as exempt from 

overtime protections and worked more than 40 hours in a workweek without overtime premium 
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pay, in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq., the D.C. 

Minimum Wage Act, D.C. Code §§ 32-1001 et seq. (“the DCMWA”); the D.C. Wage Payment 

and Collection Law, D.C. Code §§ 32-1301 et seq. (“the DCWPCL”), and supporting D.C. and 

Department of Labor regulations ( DCMWA, DCWPCL, and D.C. wage regulations collectively 

“D.C. Wage Laws”).  

3. As of March 28, 2017, Defendant operates over 900 company-owned bakery-

cafes in 46 states and the District of Columbia, and in Ontario, Canada.1  In fiscal year 2015, 

Defendant’s revenue reached $2,682 million.2 

4. Defendant employs AMs like Plaintiffs and others similarly situated at its 

locations nationwide. 

5. AMs, who predominantly perform non-managerial work related to customer 

service, cashiering, food preparation, and cleaning, work long hours without overtime pay.   

6. Plaintiffs bring this action under the FLSA, on behalf of themselves and similarly 

situated current and former AMs who elect to opt into this action pursuant to the collective action 

provision of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).     

7. Plaintiff Meyers bring this action under the DCMWA, on behalf of himself and 

similarly situated current and former AMs who elect to opt into this action pursuant to the 

                                                      
1  https://www.panerabread.com/content/dam/panerabread/documents/financial/2017/2017-
definitive-proxy-statement.pdf (last visited on 10/13/17). 
 
2  https://www.panerabread.com/content/dam/panerabread/documents/financial/2016/pbc-
annual-report-2015.pdf (last visited on 10/13/17).    
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collective action provision of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), which is incorporated by the 

DCMWA. 3 

8. Plaintiff Meyer also brings this action on behalf of himself and similarly situated 

current and former AMs who worked in the District of Columbia pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23, to remedy violations of the DCMWA and DCWPCL and the supporting 

District of Columbia regulations.4  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the FLSA claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337 and diversity jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332.   

10. In addition, the Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims under the FLSA 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

11. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the District of Columbia claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because they are so closely related to the claims under the FLSA 

that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States 

Constitution. 

12. This Court is empowered to issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 2201 and 2202. 

                                                      
3  Plaintiff Meyer pleads the DCMWA as a collective action for the time period of June 1, 
2013, through February 27, 2015, when the DCMWA was amended to permit plaintiffs to bring 
DCMWA allegations as class actions.  See D.C. Code § 32-1308(a)(1)(C)(iv). 
 
4  Plaintiff Meyer pleads the DCMWA as a class action for the time period of February 27, 
2015 through present, for the time period after the DCMWA was amended to permit plaintiffs to 
bring DCMWA allegations as class actions.  See D.C. Code § 32-1308(a)(1)(C)(iv). 
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13. Venue is proper in the District of Columbia pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.  

Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in this district and a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district.  

14. Upon information and belief, at least one member of each of the proposed classes 

is a citizen of a state different from that of Defendant. 

15. Upon information and belief, citizenship of the members of each of the proposed 

classes is dispersed among a substantial number of states. 

16. Upon information and belief, there are more than 100 members of each proposed 

class in the aggregate. 

17. Upon information and belief, the amount in controversy in this matter exceeds the 

sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs. 

THE PARTIES 

Plaintiff Alan Meyer  

18. Plaintiff Meyer is an adult individual who is a resident of Alexandria, Virginia.   

19. Plaintiff Meyer was employed by Defendant from approximately April 2015 

through October 2015. 

20. During his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff Meyer worked as an AM in 

Washington, D.C., at the Panera restaurant located at 4501 Wisconsin Ave NW, Washington, DC 

20016. 

21. As a Panera AM, Plaintiff Meyer regularly worked more than 40 hours per week, 

and frequently worked approximately 60 hours per week, without being paid overtime.  

22. Plaintiff Meyer is a covered employee within the meaning of the FLSA, 

DCMWA, and DCWPCL. 
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23. Written consent forms for Plaintiff Meyer are attached hereto as Exhibits A and 

B. 

Plaintiff David Cornelius  

24. Plaintiff Cornelius is an adult individual who is a resident of Daphne, Alabama.   

25. Plaintiff Cornelius was employed by Defendant from approximately October 

2013 through September 2015. 

26. During his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff Cornelius worked as an AM in 

Alabama, at the Panera restaurant located at the Village at Lee Branch, 200 Doug Baker 

Boulevard, Birmingham, Alabama 35242.  

27. As a Panera AM, Plaintiff Cornelius regularly worked more than 40 hours per 

week, and frequently worked approximately 55-60 hours per week, without being paid overtime.  

28. Plaintiff Cornelius is a covered employee within the meaning of the FLSA. 

29. A written consent form for Plaintiff Cornelius is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

Defendant Panera Bread Company  

30. Defendant Panera Bread Company is a Missouri corporation headquartered at 

6710 Clayton Road, Saint Louis, MO 63117. 

31. Defendant operates hundreds of restaurants in the United States and Canada, 

including in this judicial district. 

32. Defendant is a covered employer within the meaning of the FLSA, DCMWA, and 

DCWPCL and at all relevant times employed Plaintiffs and similarly situated current and former 

AMs.   
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33. Defendant has the power to control the terms and conditions of employment for 

Plaintiffs and those similarly situated, including with respect to their compensation and 

classification as exempt or non-exempt employees. 

34. During relevant times, Defendant maintained control, oversight, and direction 

over Plaintiffs and similarly situated employees, including with respect to timekeeping, payroll, 

and other employment practices that applied to them.  

35. Defendant applies the same employment policies, practices, and procedures to all 

AMs.  

36. Defendant classified Plaintiffs and other AMs as exempt from overtime. 

37. At all times relevant, Defendant’s annual gross volume of sales made or business 

done was not less than $500,000.   

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS UNDER THE FLSA AND DCMWA 
 

38. Plaintiffs bring the First Cause of Action pursuant to the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b), on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated AMs whom Defendant classified as 

exempt from overtime requirements, who worked more than 40 hours a week for Defendant in 

the United States – excluding New York, New Jersey, and Massachusetts – at any time between 

June 1, 20135 and the date of final judgment in this matter, and who elect to join this action (the 

“FLSA Collective”). 

39. Plaintiff Meyer brings the Second Cause of Action pursuant to the DCMWA, 

D.C. Code § 32-1012, on behalf of himself and all similarly situated AMs whom Defendant 

                                                      
5  The federal and state wage and hour claims of Plaintiffs and similarly situated AMs were 
tolled during the period from June 1, 2016, to February 5, 2017, pursuant to an agreement of the 
parties.  
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classified as exempt from overtime requirements, who worked more than 40 hours a week for 

Defendant in the United States at any time between June 1, 2013, and February 27, 2015, and 

who elect to join this action (the “FLSA Collective”). 

40. Plaintiffs and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives are similarly situated in that 

they have substantially similar job duties and were subject to Defendant’s common 

compensation policies, patterns, and/or practices, including without limitation Defendant’s 

misclassification of AMs as exempt from the overtime protections of the FLSA and DCMWA. 

41. Defendant is liable under the FLSA and DCMWA for, inter alia, failing to 

properly compensate Plaintiffs.  There are many similarly situated current and former AMs who 

have been underpaid in violation of the FLSA and DCMWA who would benefit from the 

issuance of a court-supervised notice of the present lawsuit and the opportunity to join this 

lawsuit.  Those similarly situated employees are known to Defendant, are readily identifiable, 

and can be located through Defendant’s records.  Notice should be sent to the FLSA and 

DCMWA Collectives pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and D.C. Code § 32-1308(a)(1)(C). 

42. All the work that Plaintiffs and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives have 

performed has been assigned by Defendant, and/or Defendant has been aware of all the work that 

Plaintiffs and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives have performed.  

43. As part of their regular business practice, Defendant has intentionally, willfully, and 

repeatedly engaged in a pattern, practice, and/or policy of violating the FLSA and DCMWA with 

respect to Plaintiffs and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives.  This policy and pattern or practice 

includes, but is not limited to: 

a. willfully failing to pay Plaintiffs and the members of the FLSA and 
DCMWA Collectives overtime for hours that they worked in excess of 40 
hours per workweek; 
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b. willfully misclassifying Plaintiffs and the members of the FLSA and 
DCMWA Collectives as exempt from the overtime protections of the FLSA 
and DCMWA; and  

c. willfully failing to record all of the time that its employees, including 
Plaintiff and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives, have worked for the 
benefit of Defendant. 

44. Defendant is aware or should have been aware that federal law required it to pay 

employees performing non-exempt duties, including Plaintiffs and members of the FLSA and 

DCMWA Collectives, an overtime premium for hours worked in excess of forty (40) per 

workweek.   

45. Plaintiffs and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives all perform or performed the 

same primary duties. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS UNDER THE DCMWA AND DCWPCL 

46. Plaintiff Meyer brings the Second Cause of Action, the DCMWA claim, under 

Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of himself and a class of all AMs 

employed by Defendant in the District of Columbia between February 27, 2015 and the date of 

final judgment in this matter whom Defendant (1) did not pay all wages earned, including 

overtime wages, at least twice during each calendar month on regular paydays and/or (2) did not 

pay all wages due promptly after resignation or termination. 

47. Plaintiff Meyer brings the Third Cause of Action, the DCWPCL claims, under 

Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of himself and a class of all AMs 

employed by Defendant in the District of Columbia between June 1, 2013, and the date of final 

judgment in this matter whom Defendant (1) did not pay all wages earned, including overtime 

wages, at least twice during each calendar month on regular paydays and/or (2) did not pay all 

wages due promptly after resignation or termination (collectively, the “D.C. Class”). 
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48. Excluded from the D.C. Class are Defendant’s legal representatives, officers, 

directors, assigns, and successors, or any individual who has, or who at any time during the class 

period has had, a controlling interest in Defendant; the Judge(s) to whom this case is assigned 

and any member of the Judges’ immediate family; and all persons who will submit timely and 

otherwise proper requests for exclusion from the D.C. Class. 

49. The persons in the D.C. Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Although the precise number of such persons is not known to Plaintiff, the facts 

on which the calculation of that number can be based are presently within the sole control of 

Defendant.   

50. Upon information and belief, the size of the D.C. Class is at least 100 workers. 

51. Defendant acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the D.C. 

Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with 

respect to the D.C. Class as a whole. 

52. The Second and Third Causes of Action are properly maintainable as a class 

action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3).  There are questions of law and fact 

common to the D.C. Class that predominate over any questions solely affecting individual 

members of the D.C. Class, including but not limited to: 

a. whether Defendant is subject to the requirements of the DCMWA and 
DCWPCL; 

b. whether Defendant met their obligations under the DCMWA and DCWPCL to 
timely pay Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class all wages earned, including 
overtime wages, during their employment; 

c. whether Defendant met their obligations under the DCMWA and DCWPCL to 
timely pay Plaintiff and the D.C. Class all wages earned, including overtime 
wages, upon resignation or termination; 
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d. whether Defendant failed to keep true and accurate time records for all hours 
worked by Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class; 

e. what proof of hours worked is sufficient where an employer fails in its duty to 
maintain true and accurate time records; and 

f. the nature and extent of D.C. Class-wide injury and the appropriate measure 
of damages for the D.C. Class. 

53. Plaintiff Meyer’s claims are typical of the claims of the D.C. Class he seeks to 

represent.  Plaintiff and the other D.C. Class members work or have worked for Defendant and 

have been subject to their policy and pattern or practice of failing to timely pay for all hours 

worked in a workweek, including all overtime hours.  Defendant acted and refused to act on 

grounds generally applicable to the D.C. Class, thereby making declaratory relief with respect to 

the D.C. Class appropriate. 

54. Plaintiff Meyer will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

D.C. Class.  Plaintiff Meyer understands that, as a class representative, he assumes a fiduciary 

responsibility to the D.C. Class to represent its interests fairly and adequately.  Plaintiff Meyer 

recognizes that as a class representative, he must represent and consider the interests of the D.C. 

Class just as he would represent and consider his own interests.  Plaintiff Meyer understands that 

in decisions regarding the conduct of the litigation and its possible settlement, he must not favor 

his own interests over those of the D.C. Class.  Plaintiff Meyer recognizes that any resolution of 

a class action lawsuit, including any settlement or dismissal thereof, must be in the best interests 

of the D.C. Class.  Plaintiff Meyer understands that in order to provide adequate representation, 

one must remain informed of developments in the litigation, cooperate with class counsel by 

providing them with information and any relevant documentary material in one’s possession, and 

testify, if required, in a deposition and in trial. 
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55. Plaintiff Meyer has retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class 

action employment litigation.  

56. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this litigation – particularly in the context of wage litigation like the present 

action, where individual plaintiffs may lack the financial resources to vigorously prosecute a 

lawsuit in federal court against a corporate defendant.  The members of the D.C. Class have been 

damaged and are entitled to recovery as a result of Defendant’s common and uniform policies, 

practices, and procedures.  Although the relative damages suffered by individual members of the 

D.C. Class are not de minimis, such damages are small compared to the expense and burden of 

individual prosecution of this litigation.  In addition, class treatment is superior because it will 

obviate the need for unduly duplicative litigation that might result in inconsistent judgments 

about Defendant’s practices. 

57. This action is properly maintainable as a class action under Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(b)(3). 

COMMON FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 
 

58. Plaintiffs and the members of the D.C. Class and FLSA Collective (collectively, 

“Class Members”) have been victims of a common policy and plan perpetrated by Defendant that 

has violated their rights under the FLSA and D.C. law by denying them overtime pay and timely 

payment of all wages earned. 

59. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs and the Class Members worked more than 

40 hours during most weeks in which they worked for Defendant. 

60. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs and the Class Members were commonly 

scheduled to work for approximately 60 hours per week.   
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61. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiffs and the Class Members overtime compensation 

and/or all wages earned for hours they worked over 40 in a workweek. 

62. Defendant failed to keep accurate records of the hours that Plaintiffs and the Class 

Members worked. 

63. All of the work that Plaintiffs and the Class Members have performed has been 

assigned by Defendant, and/or Defendant has been aware of all of the work that Plaintiffs and the 

Class Members performed.  

64. Pursuant to a centralized, company-wide policy, pattern or practice that was 

authorized, established, promulgated, and/or ratified by its corporate headquarters, Defendant 

classified Plaintiffs and the Class Members as exempt from the overtime protections of the FLSA 

and DCMWA, and the timely payment requirements of the DCWPCL.  

65. Defendant’s classification determination did not vary depending on the location 

where AMs worked. 

66. Defendant did not perform a person-by-person analysis of every AM’s job duties 

in making its decision to classify all AMs as exempt. 

67. Plaintiffs and the Class Members performed the same primary job duties.    

68. Plaintiffs and the Class Members regularly performed non-managerial customer 

service duties, including assisting and greeting customers, operating the cash register, preparing 

food, and cleaning the restaurant.   

69. Plaintiffs and the Class Members did not have the authority to hire and fire 

employees.   
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70. As part of its regular business practice, Defendant has intentionally, willfully, and 

repeatedly engaged in a pattern, practice, and/or policy of violating the FLSA and D.C. law with 

respect to Plaintiffs and the Class Members.  This policy and pattern or practice includes but is 

not limited to: 

a. willfully failing to record all of the time that its employees, including 
Plaintiffs and the Class Members, have worked for the benefit of Defendant; 

b. willfully failing to keep payroll records as required by the FLSA and 
DCWPCL; 

c. willfully misclassifying Plaintiffs and the Collective Members as exempt from 
the requirements of the FLSA, DCMWA, and DCWPCL; and 

d. willfully failing to timely pay its employees, including Plaintiffs and the Class 
Members, overtime wages and all wages earned for hours that they worked in 
excess of forty per week.  

71. Defendant is aware or should have been aware that federal and D.C. law required 

it to pay employees performing non-exempt duties an overtime premium for hours worked in 

excess of 40 hours per week.   

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Fair Labor Standards Act:  Unpaid Overtime Wages 

On Behalf of Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective 
 

72. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs. 

73. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective were engaged in 

commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 

206(a) and 207(a).  

74. The overtime wage provisions set forth in §§ 201 et seq. of the FLSA apply to 

Defendant. 
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75. Defendant was an employer of Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective and is engaged 

in commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 

206(a) and 207(a). 

76. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective were employees within 

the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 203(e) and 207(a). 

77. Defendant has failed to pay Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective the overtime 

wages to which they are entitled under the FLSA. 

78. Defendant’s violations of the FLSA, as described in this Complaint, have been 

willful and intentional.   

79. Because Defendant’s violations of the FLSA have been willful, a three-year 

statute of limitations applies, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255. 

80. As a result of Defendant’s willful violations of the FLSA, Plaintiffs and the FLSA 

Collective have suffered damages by being denied overtime wages in accordance with 29 U.S.C. 

§§ 201 et seq., in amounts to be determined at trial, and are entitled to recovery of such amounts, 

liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, attorneys’ fees, costs and other compensation pursuant 

to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
DCMWA:  Unpaid Overtime Wages 

On behalf of Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class and Collective 

81. Plaintiff Meyer realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all 

preceding paragraphs. 

82. At all times relevant, Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the DCMWA Collective 

and D.C. Class have been employees and Defendant has been an employer within the meaning of 

the DCMWA.   
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83. Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the DCMWA Collective and D.C. Class are 

covered by the DCMWA. 

84. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the DCMWA 

Collective and D.C. Class wages to which they are entitled under DCMWA, D.C. Code Ann. § 

32-1003(c). 

85. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the DCMWA 

Collective and D.C. Class overtime for hours worked over forty in a workweek.   

86. Defendant failed to keep, make, preserve, maintain, and furnish accurate records 

of time worked by Plaintiff Meyer and the DCMWA Collective and D.C. Class members. 

87. Due to Defendant’s violations of the DCMWA, Plaintiff Meyer and the members 

of the DCMWA Collective and D.C. Class are entitled to recover from Defendant their unpaid 

wages, liquidated damages equal to treble the amount of unpaid wages, attorneys’ fees and costs 

of the action, and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
DCWPCL:  Failure to Timely Pay All Earned Wages 

On behalf of Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class 

88. Plaintiff Meyer realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all 

preceding paragraphs. 

89. At all times relevant, Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the D.C. Class have 

been employees and Defendant has been an employer within the meaning of the DCWPCL.   

90. Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the D.C. Class are covered by the DCWPCL. 

91. Defendant failed to timely pay Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the D.C. Class 

all wages earned, as required by DCWPCL, D.C. Code Ann. § 32-1302. 
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92. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff Meyer and the members of the D.C. Class 

overtime wages for hours worked over forty in a workweek.   

93. Defendant failed to keep, make, preserve, maintain, and furnish accurate records 

of time worked by Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class members. 

94. Due to Defendant’s violations of the DCWPCL, Plaintiff Meyer and the members 

of the D.C. Class are entitled to recover from Defendant their unlawfully withheld wages, 

liquidated damages equal to treble the amount of unpaid wages, attorneys’ fees and costs of the 

action, and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated 

persons, prays for the following relief: 

A. At the earliest possible time, Plaintiffs should be allowed to give notice of this 

collective action, or the Court issue such notice, to all persons who are members 

of the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives.  Such notice shall inform them that this 

civil action has been filed, of the nature of the action, and of their right to join this 

lawsuit if they believe they were denied overtime; 

B. Unpaid overtime and liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq. and 

the supporting United States Department of Labor regulations, D.C. Code Ann. § 

32-1301 et seq. and D.C. Code Ann. § 32-1001 et seq.; 

C. An injunction enjoining Defendant from violating the foregoing laws and 

regulations in the future;  

D. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; 

E. Attorneys’ fees and costs of the action, including expert fees;  
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F. Certification of this action as a class action under Rule 23; 

G. Designation of Plaintiff Meyer as a Class Representative; 

H. A declaratory judgment that the practices complained of herein are unlawful; and 

I. Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 

 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs demand a trial 

by jury on all questions of fact raised by the Complaint. 

Dated: November 29, 2017   

    

    Respectfully submitted, 

   

By:      
OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP 
Sally J. Abrahamson (99058) 
Lucy B. Bansal (MD06639) 

       601 Massachusetts Avenue NW 
       Second Floor West Suite 

Washington, D.C. 20001 
Telephone: 202-847-4400 
Facsimile: 202-847-4410 
 
Justin M. Swartz (pro hac vice motion 
forthcoming) 
685 Third Avenue, 25th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 
Telephone: 212-245-1000 
Facsimile: 646-509-2060 
 

 Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Putative 
Class and Collectives 
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CONSENT TO BE A PARTY PLAINTIFF 
 

1. I consent to be a party plaintiff in a lawsuit against Panera, LLC and/or related 
entities and individuals in order to seek redress for violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).   

 
2. By signing and returning this consent form, I designate Outten & Golden LLP 

(“O&G”) to represent me and make decisions on my behalf concerning the litigation and any 
settlement.  I understand that reasonable costs expended on my behalf will be deducted from any 
settlement or judgment amount on a pro rata basis among all other plaintiffs.  I understand that 
O&G will petition the Court for attorneys’ fees from any settlement or judgment in the amount 
of the greater of: (1) the “lodestar” amount, calculated by multiplying reasonable hourly rates by 
the number of hours expended on the lawsuit, or (2) 1/3 of the gross settlement or judgment 
amount.  I agree to be bound by any adjudication of this action by a court, whether it is favorable 
or unfavorable. 

 
3. I also consent to join any separate or subsequent action to assert my claim against 

Panera, LLC and/or related entities and individuals potentially liable. 
 
___________________________________    
Signature 
 
___________________________________    
Full Legal Name (print)        
 

______________  _ _________________ 
Street Address      City, State and Zip Code 
 

_____________________  ________________ 
Phone Number     Email Address 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F211F329-978E-4ED1-B9DA-0495CB9F7B6B

Alan MeyerAlan James Meyer
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CONSENT TO BE A PARTY PLAINTIFF 
 

1. I consent to be a party plaintiff in a lawsuit against Panera, LLC and/or related 
entities and individuals in order to seek redress for violations of the D.C. Minimum Wage Act, 
pursuant to D.C. Code Ann. § 32-1012(a).   

 
2. By signing and returning this consent form, I designate Outten & Golden LLP 

(“O&G”) to represent me and make decisions on my behalf concerning the litigation and any 
settlement.  I understand that reasonable costs expended on my behalf will be deducted from any 
settlement or judgment amount on a pro rata basis among all other plaintiffs.  I understand that 
O&G will petition the Court for attorneys’ fees from any settlement or judgment in the amount 
of the greater of: (1) the “lodestar” amount, calculated by multiplying reasonable hourly rates by 
the number of hours expended on the lawsuit, or (2) 1/3 of the gross settlement or judgment 
amount.  I agree to be bound by any adjudication of this action by a court, whether it is favorable 
or unfavorable. 

 
3. I also consent to join any separate or subsequent action to assert my claim against 

Panera, LLC and/or related entities and individuals potentially liable. 
 
___________________________________    
Signature 
 
___________________________________    
Full Legal Name (print)        
 

___________________  ______________________ 
Street Address      City, State and Zip Code 
 

_______________________  _________________ 
Phone Number     Email Address 
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CONSENT TO BE A PARTY PLAINTIFF 
 

1. I consent to be a party plaintiff in a lawsuit against Panera, LLC and/or related 
entities and individuals in order to seek redress for violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).   

 
2. By signing and returning this consent form, I designate Outten & Golden LLP 

(“O&G”) to represent me and make decisions on my behalf concerning the litigation and any 
settlement.  I understand that reasonable costs expended on my behalf will be deducted from any 
settlement or judgment amount on a pro rata basis among all other plaintiffs.  I understand that 
O&G will petition the Court for attorneys’ fees from any settlement or judgment in the amount 
of the greater of: (1) the “lodestar” amount, calculated by multiplying reasonable hourly rates by 
the number of hours expended on the lawsuit, or (2) 1/3 of the gross settlement or judgment 
amount.  I agree to be bound by any adjudication of this action by a court, whether it is favorable 
or unfavorable. 

 
3. I also consent to join any separate or subsequent action to assert my claim against 

Panera, LLC and/or related entities and individuals potentially liable. 
 
___________________________________    
Signature 
 
___________________________________    
Full Legal Name (print)        
 

____________  __________________ 
Street Address      City, State and Zip Code 
 

_______________________  _____________________ 
Phone Number     Email Address 
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CIVIL COVER SHEET

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS

Alan Meyer and David Cornelius, individually and on Panera Bread Company
behalf of all others similarly situated,

(b) COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF 88888 COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED DEFENDANT 88888
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES. ESE THE LOCATION OF THE. TRACT OF LAND INVOLVEO

(c) ATTORNEYS (FIRM NAME, ADDRESS, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER) ATTORNEYS (IF KNOWN)

OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP
601 Massachusetts Avenue NW, Second Floor West Suite
Washington, D.C. 20001
Telephone: 202-847-4400

a
II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION HE CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (PLACE AN x IN ONE BOX FOR

(PLACE AN IN ONE BOX ONLY) PLAINTIFF AND ONE BOX FOR DEFENDANT) FOR DIVERSITY CASES ONLY!
PTF DFT PTF OFT

O I U.S. Government C) 3 Federal Question
PlaintilT (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of this State 0 1 0 I Incorporated or Principal Place 0 4 (DI 4

of Business in This State

O 2 U.S. Government 0 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State 0 2 0 2 Incorporated and Principal Place 0 5 0 5
Defendant (Indicate itizenship of of Business in Another State

Parties in item Ill) Citizen or Subject of a 0 3 0 3
Foreign Country Foreign Nation 0 6 0 6

IV. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT
(Place an X in one cateaorv, A-N, that best represents your Cause of Action and one in a corresponding Nature of Suit)

O A. Antitrust 0 B. Personal Injury/ 0 C. Administrative Agency 0 D. Temporary Restraining
Malpractice Review Order/Preliminaty

InjunctionEl 410 Antitrust ED 310 Airplane Ti 151 Medicare Art

El 315 Airplane Product Liability Any nature of suit from any category
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Other Statutes
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I 365 Product Liability
El 893 Environmental Matters

1 El 890 Other Statutory Actions (If[-I 367 Health Care/Pharmaceutical

Personal Injury Product Liability
Administrative Agency is

El 368 Asbestos Product Liability
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O E. General Civil (Other) OR 0 F. Pro Se General Civil

Real Property Bankruptcy Federal Tax Suits f----1 462 Naturalization

r 210 Land Condemnation Ei 422 Appeal 27 USC 158 1 1 870 Taxes (US plaintiff or Application
El 220 Foreclosure El 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 defendant) I 1 465 Other Immigration
E: 230 Rent, Lease & Ejectment CD 871 IRS-Third Party 26 USC Actions
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11380 Other Personal Property
Other Statutes El 896 Arbitration

I I 375 False Claims Act 899 Administrative Procedure
Damage p.t.....erty Rights

Li 385 Property Damage i i 820 Copyrights ni 376 Qui Tam (31 USC Act/Review or Appeal of

Product Liability Li 830 Patent 3729(a)) Agency Decision

1 1 835 Patent Abbreviated New E: 400 State Reapportionment ni 950 Constitutionality of State

Drug Application Ej 430 Banks & Banking Statutes

840 Trademark El 450 Commerce/1CC I I 890 Other Statutory Actions

Rates/etc. (if not administrative agency

460 Deportation review ur Privacy Act)
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O G. Habeas Corpus/ 0 H. Employment 0 1. FOIA/PrivacyAct 0 J. Student Loan
2255 Discrimination

El 530 Habeas Corpus General ET 442 Civil Rights Employment I 1 895 Freedom of Information Act FT 152 Recovery of Defaulted

n 510 MotionfVacate Sentence (criteria: race, gender/sex, ni 890 Other Statutory Actions Student Loan

El 463 Habeas Corpus Alien national origin, (if Privacy Act) (excluding veterans)

Detainee discrimination, disability, age,

religion, retaliation)

*(If pro se, select this deck)* "(If pro se, select this deck)*

O K. Labor/ERISA 0 L Other Civil Rights 0 M, Contract 0 N. Three-Judge
(non-employment) (non-employment) Court

1-1 110 Insurance

Fei 710 Fair Labor Standards Act =1441 Voting (if not Voting Rights El 120 Marine El 441 Civil Rights Voting
I 1 720 Labor/Mgmt. Relations Act) El 130 Miller Act (ifVoting Rights Act)
Ld 740 Labor Railway Act imi 443 Housing/Accommodations El 140 Negotiable Instrument

L 1 751 Faintly and Medical n440 Other Civil Rights E.] 150 Recovery of Overpayment
Leave Act ED 445 Americans w/Disabilities & Enforcement of

ri 790 Other Labor Litigation Employment Judgment
f 1 791 Empl, Ret, Inc, Security Act r---1446 Americans w/Disabilities El 153 Recovery of Overpayment

Other of Veteran's Benefits

E: 448 Education ri 160 Stockholder's Suits

El 190 Other Contracts

rl 195 Contract Product Liability
196 Franchise

V. ORIGIN

O I Original 0 2 Removed 0 3 Remanded 0 4 Reinstated 0 5 Transferred 0 6 Multi-district 0 i Appeal to 0 8 Mum-district

Proceeding from State from Appellate or Reopened from another Litigation District Judge Litigation
Court Court district (specify) from Mag. Direct File

Judge

VI, CAUSE OF ACTION (CITE THE U.S. CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YOU ARE FILING AND WRITE A BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE.)

29 U.S.C. 201 et seq. and DC wage laws, for failure to pay all wages due to Plaintiffs and those similarly situated.

VII. REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS DEMAND Check YES only if demanded in complaint
COMPLAINT ACTION LINDER F.R.C.P. 23 JURY DEMAND: VES 1 X I NO t j

VIII. RELATED CASE(S) (see mstrucii cm YES I I NO t 1 If yes, please complete related case form

IFANY,

DATE: 11/29/2017 SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD ..R.324...,-...r--------------

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET JS-44

Authority for Civil Cover Sheet

The JS-44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and services of pleadings or other papers as required
by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September I 974, is required for the use of the
Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed
Listed below are tips for completing the civil cover sheet. These tips coincide with the Roman Numerals on the cover sheet.

COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINT1FF/DEFENDANT (b) County of residence: Use 11001 to indicate plaintiff if resident
of Washington, DC, g8$88 if plaintiff is resident of United States but not Washington, DC, and 99999 if plaintiff is outside the United States.

CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES, This section is completed only if diversity of citizenship was selected as the Basis ofJurisdiction

under Section

IV. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT: The assignment of a judge to your case will depend on the category you select that best

represents the primary cause of action found in your complaint. You mav select only one category. You must also select one corresponding
nature of suit found under the category of the case.

Vt. CAUSE OF ACTION: Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a brief statement of the primary cause.

VIII. RELATED CASE(S), IF ANY If you ind]cated that there is a related case, you must complete a related case form, which may be obtained from
the Clerk's Office.

Because of the need for accurate and complete information, you should ensure the accuracy of the information provided prior to signing the form.



AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

District of Columbia

Alan Meyer and David Cornelius, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

Panera Bread Company

PANERA BREAD COMPANY
6710 Clayton Road
Richmond Heights
Saint Louis, MO 63117

OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP
601 Massachusetts Avenue NW
Second Floor West Suite
Washington, D.C. 20001
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

0.00
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Panera Bread Served with Assistant Managers’ Unpaid Overtime Claims

https://www.classaction.org/news/panera-bread-served-with-assistant-managers-unpaid-overtime-claims

	14. Upon information and belief, at least one member of each of the proposed classes is a citizen of a state different from that of Defendant.
	15. Upon information and belief, citizenship of the members of each of the proposed classes is dispersed among a substantial number of states.
	16. Upon information and belief, there are more than 100 members of each proposed class in the aggregate.
	c. willfully failing to record all of the time that its employees, including Plaintiff and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives, have worked for the benefit of Defendant.
	44. Defendant is aware or should have been aware that federal law required it to pay employees performing non-exempt duties, including Plaintiffs and members of the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives, an overtime premium for hours worked in excess of forty (4...
	45. Plaintiffs and the FLSA and DCMWA Collectives all perform or performed the same primary duties.
	UCLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS UNDER THE DCMWA AND DCWPCL
	a. whether Defendant is subject to the requirements of the DCMWA and DCWPCL;
	b. whether Defendant met their obligations under the DCMWA and DCWPCL to timely pay Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class all wages earned, including overtime wages, during their employment;
	c. whether Defendant met their obligations under the DCMWA and DCWPCL to timely pay Plaintiff and the D.C. Class all wages earned, including overtime wages, upon resignation or termination;
	d. whether Defendant failed to keep true and accurate time records for all hours worked by Plaintiff Meyer and the D.C. Class;
	e. what proof of hours worked is sufficient where an employer fails in its duty to maintain true and accurate time records; and
	f. the nature and extent of D.C. Class-wide injury and the appropriate measure of damages for the D.C. Class.
	58. Plaintiffs and the members of the D.C. Class and FLSA Collective (collectively, “Class Members”) have been victims of a common policy and plan perpetrated by Defendant that has violated their rights under the FLSA and D.C. law by denying them over...
	UFIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
	42TUDEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY



